Deane Church Guide 1986

Foreword

This modest booklet is offered as an update ofiptsvguides to our ancient parish
church. It is published in connection with the tetgions to mark the completion of the
extensive restoration work and the redecoratiorciwvhias been carried out during the
period 1983-86.

Important though buildings are, even more importaetthe people who use them. We
need to remind ourselves, that for all its antiguleane Church is not a museum
containing fossils and relics from bygone daystdad it must be seen as the spiritual
home of today’s Family of God, as indeed it hasldee many generations of Christians
over the centuries.

Church buildings can be both an asset and a lnbilhey are an asset when their
atmosphere, size and shape make it easier formeebthe Living God in worship, and
to meet each other in Fellowship. They are a ligbivhen they actually make it harder
for us to engage in these Christian activities, &hdn the cost of maintaining them
becomes so burdensome that the Family of God leaefl from carrying out its other
tasks of mission and social concern.

We are fortunate with Deane Church with the buddive have inherited. It is more of an
asset than a liability. I'm glad today’s Church Hgrhas taken its responsibilities
seriously in endeavouring to hand on to our suazsss building which is worthy of the
great God whom we worship.

Roger B. Jackson, Rector
March 1986

Introduction

Sir Nikolaus Pevsner describes Deane ChurdhéBuildings of England as “A Village
Church still, and a proud one”.

The present building dates from 1452 and occupiesite of an even earlier building.
Dene is mentioned in the Domesday Book so this iscalesiastical site of great
antiquity and, in many ways, is a microcosm of Efghistory.

This guide, prepared at a time when the churclbkas extensively renovated to ensure
its continuing use for worship into the next ceptat least, attempts to look into the
building’s past, and the people who built it angdavorshipped in it.

The contents of this guide are inevitably selectind relate the visible evidence of the
history of Deane Church. More comprehensive hisgoof the church and the village are
available, and are referred to later.

We hope that this guide serves as an interestingdinction and helpful guide to our
church.

A Brief History

The ancient church at Deane — in common with miastlourches — was built on the best
site in the neighbourhood,

It stood prominently overlooking a well-wooded denftom which Deane takes its name
— with the distant view of Winter Hill across théde valley of the Middlebrook.



Tradition claims a Saxon church to have existethersite of the present Parish Church
of Deane, and this conforms to the view held gdlyebg historians — that the majority

of our ancient village churches stand on the ditncearlier Norman or Saxon church.
The old Saxon name of the stream through adjaceah® Clough — the Kirkebrok —
supports this view.

There is documentary evidence of the existencéwfah in later Norman times. We find
in a deed, Thomas, Chaplain of Flekho (Flixtongnging “in the third year of the
seventh cycle of nine years from the translatioBaiht Thomas the Martyr, the portion
in the church of Eccles assigned him by Roger didNpto William clerk of Eccles for
life”. In return William granted to Thomas “all obmtions of the said portion to be
received in the mother-church of Eccles for fousrgeensuing: saving to himself the
obventions of Saynte Mariden” (the former name e&be Church).

Saint Thomas the Martyr is Thomas A Becket, who masdered in Canterbury
Cathedral in 1170, so that the year of the aboeel de1227.

The Roger de Notton referred to in the deed hadritéd one fourth part of the parish of
Eccles Church, which also included the chapel gh&aMariden, and he had assigned
all his interest therin to one, Thomas, a clerkotles, who thus became the first known
chaplain of Saynte Mariden, and as his salaryspeet of the said chapel included
“obventions”, that is both “alterage” and “mortwesi, so there were then both an altar
and a cemetery at the chapel at the time of itstiere

The year 1452 is given in Crockforderical Directory as the date of the erection of the
present Deane Church, Whilst it has generally hewlerstood that 1452 saw the
completion of the present dimensions, with towere) aisles and chancel’ thectoria
County History of Lancashire describes a gradual development. This is an istiege
account of its growth and can more readily be aszewhen the irregular features of the
building are noted — the width of the arches vdrg,pillars are not of the same girth, the
south aisle is three feet wider than the nortleamhd the arches on the south of the nave
are some three feet higher than those on the ribghould be remembered that many
ancient parish churches were originally of smatheisions and were added to during the
centuries.

Deane Church appears to have been a smAitddtury chapel with the nave the area of
the two westernmost bays of the present nave hihbui aisles. There was a chancel,
possibly in the form of an apse which was commaringdthat period. Though the
church was so small it had a tower with walls sdoue feet thick at the base. It is
thought that the tower — not so high as at presgmbbably belonged to the earlier
chapel, and that a difference in the conditiorhefstone indicates the original height.
The tower buttresses were added much later.

In the eastern wall of the tower, just under thelpof the original roof, is a Norman
window. Such an opening is not uncommon in old ches. The upper storey of the
tower was used as a dwelling-place, sometimeséyptiest, but more often by the
sacristan, whose duty it was to guard the churchasures. From the window the
guardian could command a view of the sanctuanylyBathe 13" century it is claimed
the church was extended eastwards to include aname occupied by the third and
fourth bays.

The next alteration to this 4entury church seems to have been the pulling dafwtine
northern wall of this extension and extended noatfals, making an aisle of the same



width as at present. This would necessitate thielibgi of arches, and these two arches
are thus the oldest in the church. Later, the oblaaned its northward extension were
further extended by a bay, and the south sidelal8boutwards with three arches nearly
opposite those on the north side.

In the early 18 century there appears to have been much rebuisdidgextension. The
original nave was taken down and the present naagle, with its Gothic arches
constructed — the aisles being extended westwa@tisaisles had lean-to roofs, as shown
in an old drawing. Some three or four feet of thiginal walls remain adjoining the
tower. The clerestory was added, and a flat rooktracted with beams and an oak-
panelled ceiling. Th¥ictorian History states that the date “1510” was carved on one of
the roof timbers.

The church would then cover the area of the prasave and aisles, but with no vestry:
there was a window in the western wall of the naitihe not wholly removed when the
vestry door was added — the remaining portion @sden above the vestry door. A
chancel was built soon afterwards, apparentlyesditly in the 16 century.

An old plan of the church, updated but drawn betbesvestry was built, gives the
following dimensions of the church:

Length of Body of Church — 72 feet
Breadth of Body of Church — 52 feet
Chancel — 19 feet broad and 17 feet in depth.

The length of the church does not lie due eassbnte few degrees north of it, thus
conforming to the old custom of building churchedtsat they lie in line with the rising
sun on the festival day of the patron saint: theafehe Nativity of the Blessed Virgin
Mary is September"8 Around this period the name of the Blessed Vimgas treated

with less reverence and the church ceased to berkas Saynte Mariden, being given its
present-day name of Deane Church in about 1522.

In the year 1535, Henry VIIl assumed the title ‘Bampe Head on Earth of the Church of
England’, finally breaking with Rome. 1541 was themorable year in which Henry, by
letters patent, ordained the Chapel of Saynte Martie Parish Church of the parochial
district of ten townships assigned to it, receivihg name Deane after the ancient village.
1515 saw the birth of George Marsh, who was to ImecDeane’s most famous preacher,
being martyred at the stake near Chester in 1555.

There does not appear to have been any alteratiaddition to the church of any
consequence for nearly two hundred years, wheh{12, a gallery was erected by
Richard Edge of Middle Hulton “... from the Great D@ the west end of the south
aisle eastward in length seven yards and a haft(ass the parishioners use that aisle
belonging to Henry Hilton, Esq.), and in breadtimirthe south wall six yards and two
feet, together with a convenient stairs”. Aboutthidle of the century another gallery,
called the “Singers’ Gallery”, was built at the wesad of the church. A drawing
preserved in the Diocesan Registry Office at Chesttews that this gallery adjoining the
tower extended into the south aisle and joinedbttier gallery. Access to the west
gallery was by stairs leading from doors builthe tvest walls of the north and south
aisles and near the outer wall of the aisles.



In 1777 a vestry was erected between the north @odthe west wall of the aisle. This
could not have been a very solid structure, howedweit cost only £4 12s. 2d. (£4.61).
Extensive repair to the fabric was carried out807 following a “respectable meeting of
the churchwardens, landowners and inhabitants”.rébfs of the church and tower were
repaired, the floor of the church was levelled esflagged, and the exterior of the
church was pointed and repaired.

The next addition to the church was the buildinghef present vestry: the minutes of a
churchwardens’ meeting held @\pril, 1822, recorded: “It was resolved .... That th
vestry be built on the outside, in a suitable mantiat an iron chest be put in, and that it
be filled up with everything requisite ...”. In thagle between the tower and the outer
wall of the north aisle there was the charnel hpasked on an old plan the ‘Bone
House'. As the churchyard had then been extend®é thas no need for this gruesome
building and it was demolished and the ‘New Vestvg's built by Thomas Heaton,
stonemason and builder, of Bank Street, Boltoa, @st of £63 7s. 9d., in 1823. what
appears to be evidence of the bone house remagmghay stairs leading to the upper
vestry.

In 1833 galleries were erected over the north authsaisles. To erect them it was
necessary to add some five feet to the heightebther walls and to give light in the
galleries a second row of windows was put in eadley. In the Diocesan Registry
Office at Chester is a plan of the proposed neveges, which were to be 7ft. 7ins.
above the aisles, and to have three tiers of bendfdliam Hulton, Esq., was granted
permission to erect a porch at the south-westegteansf the church, and from this porch
led the stairs to the south gallery. Two stoneldbiwith the Hulton lion and the carved
figure of the fisherman were transferred from awer Hulton door to a place over the
door of the new porch. During these alterationg@mhinge bearing the date “1412” was
found on a door.

The erection of these galleries provided 420 awidkti seats making the total
accommodation 1,229. At this time there were ingaesh, chapels at Smithills,
Westhoughton, Horwich, Peel and Farnworth, buttemithl accommodation was still
required because of the increase in populationjrdisgge measure to the Industrial
Revolution, which brought many people to Bolton #mel surrounding districts.

The levying of rates to defray expenses of thedhbhad not met with any widespread
opposition for many years, but at a vestry meetielgl in the church on"5December,
1883, there were some who opposed the levyingateato meet the cost of the galleries.
The number present was so large that the meetjograed to the churchyard, where
those for the rate arranged themselves on theoétdst path and those in opposition
stood on the west. There was a resounding victorthie supporters and there was much
good-humoured chaffing when some who before hadulered the rate assayed to pass
over unobserved to the popular side.

The Rev. H.S.Patterson, in his bookNttes on Deane Church, Lancashire, written in
1883, criticises strongly the work which was catraeit about 1833. He complains that
two-thirds of the ground floor accommodation wasdered defective by the galleries,
and suggests that increased accommodation showtddegn provided by the erection of
transepts; stonework in windows and doors was eavetith cement; the capitals of the
pillars were chopped away rather than alter thedwaok of pews. A chancel reredos
was added which did not agree with the windows. direncel floor was raised and any



old stones and brasses covered over; and a fige sarcient porch gave way to the
present one of five feet in length. In such marMerPatterson criticised the effort made
by his predecessor and his parishioners to meetaimands of the people, many of
whom walked long distances to worship in their glachurch,

After making this review, the Rev. H.S.Pattersotlioed a restoration scheme which, he
wrote, “is very modest”. A fund was opened, andréstoration of the church was
completed in 1884.

The work of restoration and extension does not s&eny modest”. The galleries were
taken down and the doorways which gave acces®to Wee built up — though the one
on the south aisle was not built up on the insaahel the arch of this doorway can be seen
behind the panelling in the baptistery. An examorabf the pillars shows where it had
been necessary to remove part on the stoneworikesgpport to the galleries. The
chancel was extended ten feet and the perpendieatamwindow rebuilt. A square hole
found in the south wall, was an aumbry for keefgnmunion vessels. But already
another had been mad, so we have two. A stone tafudier the window on the outside
wall records: “This Chancel lengthened ten feet ALBB4. H.S.Patterson, Vicar.”

The fine oak-panelled roof is an exact reproductibthe old one, and the corbels, partly
supporting the roof, are carved figures — soméefald worn corbels remain. It is
interesting to note that the year “1884” is careadhe beam above the chancel steps —
replacing, it would appear, the carving of “1510'the woodwork of the original oak
roof.

In building the organ-chamber the window on thetmavrall of the chancel and the one
on the east end of the north aisle were removed.ofgan, which was originally in the
west gallery, was removed to the new organ-chanamer the choir stalls were erected in
the chancel. A new ringing-chamber was built inttheer, the ringers having previously
rung from the ground floor. The square pews thaiaieed were replaced by the present
straight open ones.

The pulpit, which had stood at the north side efitiave, was lowered and moved to the
position at the south side, previously occupiedh®yclerk’s desk, and the front of this
desk was fastened to the wall behind the pulpié [Elatern was moved from the centre of
the chancel steps to its present position on thih rside.

The church was reopened by Dr. James Fraser, BisHdanchester, on 22December,
1884.

In 1896 the ground floor of the tower was adapteduEe as a vestry, and a passage made
through the tower wall connecting it with the chergestry, which was also improved,
and more accommodation provided. An iron spirdtcige was afterwards fixed in the
clergy vestry giving access to the muniment roomvabThis spiral staircase was
removed in 1952, being replaced by an enclosedantethe muniment room converted
for use as a choir vestry.

On 20" May, 1946, a meeting of parishioners decided ¢ate baptistery as a war
memorial to the men of the parish who gave theediin the Second World War, the
money to be raised by direct gifts. This form ofmaeial commended itself as being “the
erection of something in the church in our generatt a contribution to the history of the
church”. Due to the difficulties of the early pagér years, the work was unavoidably
delayed and it was not until 1950 that the memaved eventually started.



1952 was celebrated as the quincentenary of Dehoel, and considerable restoration
work was planned. This included a new South Ddterations to the Choir Vestry,
repointing of the walls, new stonework to the winmdcand restoration of the South
Clerestory windows. In 1955 the eight bells werast and rehung.

The organ was completely rebuilt in 1966 with aadbed console, the pipes being fitted
in the loft above the organ chamber. The spacediested was prepared for a chapel,
two new windows formed, and a Yorkstone altar tatd¢alled. The work, commenced

in 1969 and the new chapel was dedicated by CanlginBfshop, in 1976.

Extensive restoration was carried out in 1983 endiscovery of dry rot in the Choir
Vestry, the whole of the north aisle roof and mo€khe south aisle roof. It was also seen
that the stonework around the North Clerestory wwlwas in poor condition and in
need of renewal. At the time of writing — late 1984l this work is at an advanced stage.
The organ was partly dismantled and the opportuakgn to overhaul and clean it. In
1986 the Church Council resolved to remove the, fopen up the baptistery and
commission a new font to be located nearer theagHamhe project was completed in
1986, at a total cost of £80,000.

This briefly, is the story of Deane Church. Ove®%@ars of continuous worship has
taken place within these walls. It is our wish amention that, God willing, worship will
continue within the Holy Place into the indefiniteure.

Now, it is our pleasure, if we may, to guide youmd our ancient and lovely Church.

Interior Tour

Our tour commences at the Porch — a relatively mostgucture built in 1833 to replace
the original larger and much more lavish one.

The Baptistry Screen (1946) carries the escutchebtie Heaton, Hulton and Tempest
families, and that of the Borough of Bolton.

Note the blue material at the back of the WardesvgsR- which came from Westminster
Abbey and was used in the Coronation of Queen lagitall in 1953.

The tower contains a peal of eight bells recadisb, and replacing the 1896 octave, six
of which dated back to 1723. Records show that Béaa bells as far back as the
Dissolution.

The small window space probably indicates thatéing clergyman was provided with
overnight accommodation here. Over the Vestry aorbee seen the Royal Coat of
Arms dating from 1739, and hung in full view of gheeacher to remind him that he
should speak no word derogatory to the Crown!

The rearmost window in the North Wall commemordi@sn and Charles Wesley, the
first Methodists, and is adjacent to the North D&hilst the present door dates only
from 1738, the doorway itself is of T8entury origin, attesting to the fact that aniearl
church stood on this site long before the preskuatah was completed in 1452.

While continuing along the North Wall, note the Bemwany of which are of great
antiquity and show adze marks. There are also nmesesting plates and carvings on
the pew ends.

The window commemorating George Marsh is adjacettid last of the pews.

Moving into the Chapel note the medieval Piscindhanright hand side, indicating that
there was a chapel here as early as 1486. workeomodern altar table and chapel date
from the period 1969 — 76 and were made possibladyelocation of the organ. Until



1826, music in the church was provided by musicpaging a variety of instruments,
but in the same year, the organ was installedemtist gallery. It was enlarged in 1878,
removed to its present position in 1887, rebuilt#%6, and cleaned and overhauled in
1985. The Reverend H.S.Patterson designed the Ggaen which features an
interesting National Anthem scroll.

In the Chancel the most striking feature is th@ARrontal which depicts the martyrdom
of George Marsh in 1555, with side panels depictiegEvangelists. The Reredos, also
carved in oak, is unusual in design and detailctekin 1886, it is a copy of the Sedilia
at Furness Abbey and is carved along the top \wihsigns of the Passion. In the centre
is a Pelican, often regarded as a symbol of Christ.

The magnificent East Window by William Warringtan1845, depicts Jesus and the
Apostles including Saint Paul, and is considereldeg@ne of the best examples of stained
glass of that period. The Chancel was extendeéiyeiet in 1884, the East Window
being carefully dismantled and rebuilt — hencertf@son for there being two Aumbries in
the South Wall.

From the Chancel Steps, look into the body of th&ah. The line of the steeply pitched
roof of the original 1% century chapel can be seen on the tower wall.oBtkepanelled
roof is a reproduction of the original one. Theedabove the Chancel Steps shows this
roof to have been built in 1884, replacing the 16figinal. Note the newer carved
corbels supporting the existing beams, and ther@iigorbels, now redundant.

Notice also the Candelabrum, purchased in 1737 whewardens were authorised to
buy “a decent brass candlestick”!

One can begin to appreciate how the church hadafmatover the centuries, in the
varying spans, heights and shapes of the colunthamhes, the varying aisle widths, the
still evident alterations to stonework, and thenfgrotesque carvings.

The Lectern was presented by W.F.Hulton of Hultarkin 1877.

The Pulpit is elaborate Elizabethan and the olaelsancashire. It was originally
positioned at the head of the centre aisle andmagd to its present position late in the
nineteenth century. The Clerk’s Desk is still adjatcto the pulpit, fastened to the pillar
behind the pulpit itself.

Continuing past the front of the pulpit, we entex Hulton Chapel which stands on the
site of the pre-Reformation Lady Chapel. The windowhe East Wall contains the
oldest glass in the church, dating from the 16@0d the remains of carvings on the
walls are the oldest surviving examples of woodwarthe church, dating from about
1490. the many tablets on the walls attest to thikod family’s long involvement with
Deane Church. The White Ensign came from HMS Hes;uhe flagship of Admiral
Hulton. The Screen was erected around 1766.

Adjacent to the Hulton Chapel are the Funeral Hatthts relating to three different
William Hultons. These are particularly interestemd attractive examples hopefully to
be restored — an expensive undertaking.

Once into the South Aisle again note the Pew enddhis indicating that these pews
were assigned to tenants on the Hulton estates.

A short walk along the south aisle, past the bralsket commemorating the 1914-18 War
takes you back to the south door and the end sfsthort tour.

If you have enjoyed this brief tour of the churaterior, you may be interested in the
more detailed publication entitled simply “Deaneu@in”.



Exterior Tour

We start our tour at the Lych Gate — of unusua,sand built in 1903 as a memorial. It
shows the arms of King Edward VII and Queen Alexanthe Reverend H.S.Patterson,
and Miss Ashton, the donor. An earlier gate existetdveen 1752 and 1799 which had,
in turn, replaced an even earlier one.

Emerging from the Lych Gate we see another referémthe Reverend H.S.Patterson in
the form of a stone pulpit erected by his relativesiemory of the man who had done so
much for Deane Church. It is known as the PatteRadpit and outdoor services have
been conducted from it on “Sermons Day’.

Immediately ahead, beside the path, stands thegé&tarsh Memorial Cross, the base
of which is reputed to be of Saxon origin and frehich earlier preachers taught. It
originally stood some half mile from the churchNew York. The inscriptions record the
martyrdom of George Marsh, who was born at Broagail515, and the erection of the
memorial by Reverend H.S.Patterson in 1893.

As we approach the church porch, a gravestone gdeds to the east of the door is
dated 1608 and is the oldest decipherable stotieeinhurchyard. However, near the East
Window can be seen a rough hewn stone with a enasked on it, which is believed to
be a Crusader’s resting place and, if so, wouldr®eof the oldest gravestones.

To the west of the porch we see the head and slisubd a man built into the outside
wall. He was previously fixed above the Hulton Daad is known as the Fisherman of
Deane probably symbolising the ‘fisher of men’ e thotto of Whalley Abbey.

As you walk around the exterior, notice the varigtgtonework showing centuries of
additions and alterations to the fabric, too extent be covered in detail in this brief
guide.

At the Tower remember that it was originally theimantrance to the church.

The Pinnacles are relatively recent — having beleled in 1844, the same time that the
original hipped roof was replaced by the presaitdhe. Close inspection of the carvings
show that the figures have protruding tongues -otteeon the south east pinnacle being
‘the winner’! They were probably carved to match #arlier east wall pinnacles.

The original tower Clock had two faces. A replacatweas fitted in 1816 and the present
simple clock face was a further replacement in 1984

The Weather Cock has a date of 1796 on its tail.

At the north west corner of the church, we areidatthe present-day Vestry, added in
1823 on the site of the original Charnel House.

Round the corner to the North Wall we see the NDdbr from the outside, and can now
see the weathered . 8entury stonework.

At the north east corner are the newest windowsifig the new Chapel. Extensive
excavation work was carried out here in 1985 toroup drainage and to drag back the
soil and expose the original stonework.

Next we can see the impressive East Window fronothiside — particularly beautiful at
night with all the church lights on.

If you have time, look for the gravestones to tast@f the church with a hand carved on
them. These are the graves of the Hugenot Glovpessecuted Protestants from France
and Flanders who fled to this country in th& £&ntury, the Flemish wooden Sabot
being claimed as the original Lancashire clog. Résare not much help in this respect,
but it is an appealing and persistent belief.



Continuing around the church, returning to the B@lévation, you pass the Hulton Door
from the outside. This was a private entrance édhlton Chapel, although in 1766 the
wardens petitioned the family to allow parishiones right to pass through it. If you
have already completed the interior tour, dontkhyour memory is failing you! The
doorway was draughty and was built up during th@dli&storation — on the inside only —
leaving the original wooden door locked on the wiats

The Yew Tree near the door is a relative newcobmgng planted in 1965. It replaced a
spreading yew of great age which is recorded onyméhprints of the church, but which
died in the early years of this century, being reetbin 1964.

A few more steps along the south wall returns yothé Porch and the end of this short
tour.

Conclusions

There is imply insufficient space in a booklet loiktsize to do full justice to Deane
Church, its contents and surroundings, or to bianigfie its many fascinating Incumbents
and Parishioners who have taught or worshipedtheoeghout the centuries.

We hope, however, that we have been able to geeiitor a feel of the character of
Deane Church and its congregation, and perhaps soderstanding of why that
congregation worked, and continues to work forgreservation of His House at Deane.
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